2011

Jason Ross v. Epic Engineering : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This Court's jurisdiction rests upon Utah Code Ann. § 78A-4-103(2)(j).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

ISSUE 1: Did the trial court err in granting Appellee's motion for summary judgment?

Standard of Review: De novo. "Because, by definition, a district court does not resolve issues of fact at summary judgment, we consider the record as a whole and review the district court's grant of summary judgment de novo, reciting all facts and fair inferences drawn from the record in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party." *Poteet v. White*, 2006 UT 63, ¶ 7, 147 P.3d 439.

Preservation for Appeal: R. at 663-665, 712-737.

ISSUE 2: Did the trial court err when it excluded all of the expert testimony from Appellant's engineering expert?

Standard of Review: Abuse of discretion as to the ruling to strike the proffered evidence, but de novo (for correctness) as to the trial court's interpretation of the legal standards used as a basis for striking the evidence. "The trial court has wide discretion in determining the admissibility of expert testimony. Accordingly, we disturb the district court's decision to strike expert testimony only when it exceeds the limits of reasonability. Our review of the district court's exercise of its discretion includes review to ensure that no mistakes of law affected a lower court's use of its discretion. Thus, if the district court erred in interpreting [the governing legal standard] when it [ruled on the request to strike the expert testimony at issue], it did not act within the limits of

reasonability, and we will not defer to the evidentiary decision.” *Eskelson v. Davis Hosp. & Med. Ctr.*, 2010 UT 59, ¶ 5, 242 P.3d 762 (internal quotations and citations omitted).
Preservation for Appeal: R. at 663-665, 712-737.

ISSUE 3: Did the trial court err when it decided, without prior notice to the parties and without any agreement between the parties, that (1) Appellant would not have the time allowed by Rule 7(c) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure to file a formal response to Appellee’s Motion in Limine and (2) to rule on the Motion before receiving any formal response from Appellant, despite Appellant’s entitlement to file such a response?

Standard of Review: De novo. The Court of Appeals “review[s] the interpretation and application of a rule of procedure for correctness.” *Edwards v. Powder Mountain Water and Sewer*, 2009 UT App 185, ¶ 14, 214 P.3d 120; *see also Adams v. State*, 2005 UT 62, ¶ 8, 123 P.3d 400 (conflating the correctness standard with de novo review).

Preservation for Appeal: R. at 663-665, 712-737.

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES, ETC.

None.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiff/Appellant Jason Ross ("Ross") filed a Complaint on February 1, 2008 in which he alleged claims for breach of contract and negligence against Defendant/Appellee Epic Engineering, Inc. ("Epic"). Epic filed separate motions for partial summary judgment on each of Mr. Ross's claims, and the trial court heard oral argument on both motions on July 22, 2010. At the conclusion of the hearing, the trial court granted Epic's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment on Plaintiff's Second Cause of Action for Negligence and denied Epic's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment on Plaintiff's First Cause of Action for Breach of Contract.

The trial court set a trial date for May 19 and 20, 2011 and set a final pretrial hearing for April 28, 2011. The trial court also ordered that any motions in limine be filed on or before April 22, 2011. On April 20, 2011, Epic filed a Motion in Limine to Exclude the Expert Testimony of James E. Nordquist, PE. At the final pretrial hearing on April 28, 2011, the trial court granted Epic's Motion in Limine. Upon granting the Motion in Limine, the trial court, sua sponte, reopened the Motion for Partial Summary Judgment on Plaintiff's First Cause of Action for Breach of Contract and granted that Motion based solely upon its ruling on Epic's Motion in Limine. The Court entered its written order granting Epic's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment on May 23, 2011. Mr. Ross filed a Notice of Appeal on June 17, 2011.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

GENERAL FACTS

Appellant and Appellee entered into a contract whereby Appellee was to provide engineering services for the construction of a commercial building in Roosevelt, Utah. (R. at 2.) Appellee actually visited the construction site, conducted a topographic survey of the building site, and drafted a stamped set of construction drawings and calculations for the construction of the commercial building. (R. at 2, 267.) Relying upon Appellee's engineering expertise, Appellant proceeded to construct the building according to the plans that had been revised, stamped, and approved by Appellee. (R. at 2.)

Since completion of the commercial building in February 2007, significant settling of the building has occurred. (R. at 2.) Three-fourths of the building has settled between three to four inches since the building's completion. (R. at 2.)

PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

On or about July 22, 2010, the trial court heard argument on Appellee's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment on Plaintiff's First Cause of Action for Breach of Contract. (R. at 674.) At that hearing, the Court ruled that genuine issues of material fact existed and denied Appellee's Motion. (R. at 700.) The court specifically stated, on the record, that

there are disputed facts in this matter regarding 1) what the contractual rights were, because nobody seems to be able to come up with a contract that anybody agrees they signed, and 2) what the professional duty of care, I believe, is disputed as far as the different experts are concerned.

(R. at 700.) The trial court also ruled that a material disputed fact between the parties was “what the contract is” and also stated that, “[a]lone, what the contract is requires presentation of evidence.” (R. at 700.)

The trial court then ruled that a professional duty of care analysis would only be relevant if the factfinder could not establish what the parameters of the agreement were between the parties, and that Appellant had presented facts sufficient to create a genuine issue of material fact as to the issue of a duty of care. (R. at 700-01.) The trial court also ruled that “Plaintiff has presented facts that, if believed by a jury,” he could prevail. (R. at 700.) Based upon this ruling, the trial court entered a written order re: Defendant’s Motion for Partial Summary Judgment on Plaintiff’s First Cause of Action for Breach of Contract on or about July 30, 2010. (R. at 391.)

On or about November 1, 2010, the trial court held a telephone conference in which it set a trial date (May 19, 2011) as well as a date (April 22, 2011) by which the parties were obligated to file any motions in limine. (R. at 704-710.) The trial court memorialized these dates in a written Pretrial Order entered on November 29, 2010. (R. at 404.) Then, on March 16, 2011, the trial court, *sua sponte*, set a final pretrial hearing for April 28, 2011 (which was only four business days and six calendar days after the deadline for the filing of any motions in limine). (R. at 407-408.)

At no time during the telephone conference on November 1, 2010 or at any time thereafter did the trial court inform the parties that all briefing regarding any motions in limine was to be complete and submitted to the trial court for consideration prior to the pretrial hearing on April 28, 2011. (R. at 407-408; 704-710.)

On April 20, 2011, Appellee filed a Motion in Limine to Exclude the Expert Testimony of James E. Nordquist. (R. at 491.) Mr. Nordquist was an expert that Plaintiff had disclosed during the discovery phase of the litigation between the parties. (R. at 53.) Appellee served the Motion in Limine upon Appellant by U.S. Mail. (R. at 493.)

On April 28, 2011, which was only eight days (six business days) after Appellee had filed the Motion in Limine and eleven days prior to the date on which Appellant was obligated to respond to the Motion in Limine under the requirements of Rule 7(c) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, the trial court heard argument on Appellee's Motion in Limine. (R. at 712-13.) Counsel for Appellant objected to the trial court's decision to hear argument on April 28, 2011, stating on the record that Appellant had not yet had the time granted by Rule 7(c) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure to respond to Appellee's Motion in Limine and had not prepared to argue the Motion at the pretrial hearing. (R. at 659, 713-714.) The trial court overruled the objection, based in part, at least, upon the trial court's apparent understanding that a rule exists that allows a party only five days to file a response to a motion in limine. (R. at 713.)

The trial court ruled that the Appellee's Motion in Limine stood unopposed and that Appellant could only respond to the Motion in Limine in oral argument. (R. at 713.) After hearing argument on the Motion in Limine, the trial court granted Appellee's Motion in Limine. (R. at 735.) The trial court's decision to hear the Motion in Limine at the final pretrial hearing was neither disclosed before the actual hearing nor stipulated to by the parties and it left Appellant without any opportunity to present (1) a written

opposition to the Motion in Limine or (2) any facts, other than generalized proffer during oral argument, that would support Appellant's position.

The trial court also, sua sponte, reopened the Motion for Partial Summary Judgment on Plaintiff's First Cause of Action for Breach of Contract and granted that Motion based solely upon its ruling on Appellee's Motion in Limine. (R. at 736-37.) The trial court ruled, through the written order entered on May 23, 2011, that "[w]ithout expert testimony [Appellant] will be unable to establish that [Appellee] breached the parties' contract," that "[t]he expert evidence offered by [Appellee] to demonstrate that [Appellee] performed its contractual duties stands un rebutted," that "[i]t is the responsibility of the contractor, as a matter of law, 'to be familiar with the conditions in the subsurface of the ground,'" and that, "the dispute over the exact terms of the parties' contract is not material and does not prevent judgment as a matter of law on [Appellant's] breach of contract claim." (R. at 658-662.) Because Plaintiff had only a claim for breach of contract pending for trial, the trial court's ruling disposed of all of Plaintiff's remaining claims, and the case was dismissed with prejudice. (R. at 658-662.)

FACTS RELEVANT TO MOTION FOR PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT

Appellant contacted Appellee in early 2006 to retain Appellee's services for the design of a small commercial building that Appellant intended to build in Roosevelt, Utah. (R. at 120.) Appellant discussed his general needs and ideas for the building with Appellee's engineer, Adam Huff, P.E. (R. at 120.) After this meeting, Appellant signed the first page of the Epic Engineering, P.C. Short Form Consulting Services Contract as well as Exhibit A of that Contract (titled Project Task Order No. 1). (R. at 261.)

Appellee contends that a second page of the Contract exists and that Appellant agreed to the provisions therein. (R. at 121.) Appellant disputes that he ever saw page 2 of the Contract, and Appellee never produced a copy of that page 2 that Appellant sent to Appellee when he returned both page 1 and Exhibit A of the Contract to Appellee. (R. at 261.) Facsimile notations within the purported Contract presented by Appellee demonstrate that Appellant sent page 1 and Exhibit A to Appellee, but did not send page 2 to Appellee (the purported page 2 contains no facsimile notations). (R. at 147-149, 261.)

Page 2 of the purported Contract (which Appellant specifically denies he ever saw or agreed to) includes a paragraph 10, which states that Appellee's services would be rendered without any warranty other than that Appellee would perform in accordance with a degree of care and skill generally exercised by professionals performing similar work under similar conditions. (R. at 148.) Appellant specifically denies that he ever saw or agreed to this paragraph (or any of the provisions on the purported page 2 of the contract). (R. at 237.) Appellee produced, at different times during the briefing stage of its Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, different versions of the purported page 2 and was unable to ever definitively state which page 2 Appellant apparently accepted. (R. at 147-149, 156-160.)

Exhibit A to the Contract includes a description of the work that Appellee was to undertake pursuant to the Contract; however, Appellant disputes that the end work product as contemplated by Exhibit A was limited to a stamped set of construction drawings and calculations for submission for a building permit. (R. at 149, 262.)

Appellant specifically contracted for civil engineering services that included structural engineering and a promise by Appellee to design a structure that was structurally sound, a good building, and one that would not fall. (R. at 262.) In other words, Appellant specifically contracted for designs for a structure that was fit to be built on his specific property. (R. at 262, 274.)

Both parties designated engineer experts as witnesses in this case; appellant designated a geotechnical/soils engineer and Appellee designated a structural engineer. (R. at 53-69, 73-81.) Neither expert undertook any specialized study to determine an industry standard of care and whether or not Appellee met that industry standard of care. (R. at 271-272.) Appellant's expert had previously testified, through a disclosed expert report, that, based upon his professional experience, a licensed engineer that looked at the property in question in this case would (or at least should) immediately be concerned about the obvious fill and slope on the property. (R. at 271.) Appellee did nothing to warn or otherwise notify Appellant of the fill and slope problems on the property prior to, during, or after creating plans for the construction of the commercial building. (R. at 695-697.)

FACTS RELEVANT TO MOTION IN LIMINE

Appellee's Motion in Limine argued Appellant's expert was not qualified to offer any opinion regarding the standard of care applicable to structural engineers, contractors, or excavators and that Appellant's expert had no opinion regarding what Appellee was required to do, or failed to do, pursuant to its contract with Appellant. (R. at 494-567.)

Based upon the purported lack of opinion and expertise, Appellee moved that the trial court exclude any testimony by Appellant's expert at trial. (R. at 491-493.)

Because the trial court heard argument on the Motion in Limine six business days after the Motion was mailed to Appellant, Appellant had not prepared or filed any written response to the Motion in Limine. (R. at 713-714.) Appellant was unable to present any details (either through written opposition to the Motion in Limine or through documentary submission at the hearing) regarding the expert's 32 years of experience dealing with soil settlement issues (including numerous interactions with structural engineers) in residential and commercial structures as well as the expert's specific knowledge and expertise regarding the specific facts of this case to the trial court. (R. at - 720-23.) The trial court's position was that the Appellee's Motion in Limine was unopposed (R. at 714) and, after hearing oral argument, granted Appellee's Motion in Limine prior to receiving any formal response from Appellant (despite generalized proffer from Appellant regarding the content of such a formal response). (R. at 713-734.)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

The trial court's decision to reverse its prior ruling and grant summary judgment that it had previously denied was in error, and this Court should reverse the trial court's entry of summary judgment on Appellant's claim for breach of contract. The trial court weighed disputed facts and ignored Appellant's genuine dispute regarding the actual content of the contract; in doing so, the trial court inappropriately acted as a finder of fact.

The trial court also imposed an obligation upon Appellant to demonstrate a standard of care in order to maintain his claim for breach of contract. Such an imposition was improper, as it is irrelevant to Appellant's claim for breach of contract. The trial court's application of *Smith v. Frandsen* as an additional justification for summary judgment was improper; the *Smith* case has no application in the breach of contract context.

The trial court's decision to exclude Appellant's expert witness should also be reversed. The trial court, without prior notice to the parties, truncated the time for Appellant to respond to Appellee's Motion in Limine. The trial court, in justifying its actions, stated that motions in limine are subject to a different rule that allows only five days for a party to respond. Such a rule does not exist. The trial court abused its discretion when it excluded Appellant's expert witness without allowing Appellant to even formally respond to Appellee's Motion.

That decision deprived Appellant of an opportunity to respond to the Motion and proffer vital foundational evidence that would have supported the expert's qualification

as an expert that is competent to testify at trial. The trial court erred when it excluded the expert based upon him not being a structural engineer. Appellant's expert is a licensed engineer that has years and years of experience dealing with the exact issues that were going to be tried in this case. The trial court erred when it excluded the witness simply because he is not a structural engineer.

[This space intentionally left blank.]

ARGUMENT

The trial court erred when it granted Appellee's Motion for Summary Judgment on Plaintiff's claim for breach of contract. The trial court's prior ruling and order denying the Appellee's Motion for Summary Judgment was correct, and the trial court did not have a basis to reopen the previously-decided Motion and reverse its decision. Furthermore, the trial court's decision to exclude all of the expert testimony from Appellant's engineering expert was incorrect; as the trial court had previously ruled when it initially considered (and denied) the Motion for Summary Judgment, such testimony would be relevant if the factfinder was unable to determine the parameters of the contract between the parties. Finally, the trial court's position that Appellant was subject to an unstated rule that required a response to a motion in limine within five days and that Appellee's Motion in Limine stood unopposed was incorrect. No such five day rule exists, and Appellant was entitled to file a formal response to Appellee's Motion in Limine.

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT REVERSED ITS PRIOR DECISION AND GRANTED APPELLEE'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT.

Summary judgment is proper where there is no genuine issue of material fact and where the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law. Utah R. Civ. P. 56(c). When a court addresses a motion for summary judgment, the court's function is not to weigh disputed evidence or to decide which side has the stronger case. Rather, the court's "sole inquiry should be whether material issues of fact exist." *Draper City v. Estate of Bernardo*, 888 P.2d 1097, 1100 (Utah 1995).

On a motion for summary judgment, the nonmoving party is not required to “prove” its case in order to defeat the motion. Rather, the nonmoving party is only required to submit evidence “sufficient to raise a genuine issue of fact.” *Kleinert v. Kimball Elevator Co.*, 854 P.2d 1025, 1028 (Utah Ct. App. 1993). In addition, if there is “any doubt or uncertainty concerning questions of fact, the doubt should be resolved in favor of the opposing party [and] the court must evaluate all the evidence and all reasonable inferences fairly drawn from the evidence in a light most favorable to the party opposing summary judgment.” *Bowen v. Riverton City*, 656 P.2d 434, 436 (Utah 1982). Finally, the nonmoving party’s evidence is to be believed for purposes of the motion, and if there is a conflict in the evidence as to a material fact, the motion must be denied. *See, e.g., Draper City*, 888 P.2d at 1100-01.

In this case, the trial court initially ruled that Appellee was not entitled to summary judgment on Appellant’s claim for breach of contract because a genuine issue of material fact existed as to the terms of the contract. The trial court also ruled that, if the fact finder would be unable to determine the terms of the contract, expert testimony to determine a general standard of care that the factfinder would then use to determine the parameters of the parties’ contractual relationship would be relevant. However, this expert inquiry, if it happened at all, would only be relevant after the factfinder (in this case, a jury) determined what the terms of the contract actually were. The trial court’s position after considering the Appellee’s Motion in Limine completely ignored the first genuine issue of fact—what contract existed between the parties.

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