2011

Jason Ross v. Epic Engineering : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

ARGUMENT

I. The District Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion or Misinterpret Rule 702 in Excluding Ross's Expert.

"It is within the discretion of the district court to determine the suitability of expert testimony in a case and the qualifications of the proposed expert." *Ostler v. Albina Transfer Co., Inc.*, 781 P.2d 445, 446 (Utah Ct. App. 1989) (concluding that the trial court properly excluded expert evidence based on pure conjecture).

"Consequently, absent a clear abuse of this discretion, an appellate court will not reverse the trial court's determination." *Grindstaff v. Grindstaff*, 2010 UT App 261, ¶ 8, 241 P.3d 365 (affirming exclusion of an expert witness that lacked relevant experience).³

³ Ross's brief first addresses the summary judgment decision and second, the district court's exclusion of his expert. But this Court's practice when reviewing

Rule 702 of the Utah Rules of Evidence requires a determination as to whether expert testimony is necessary to assist the trier of fact, and if so, whether the proposed expert has the requisite “knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education” to provide such assistance to the trier of fact. Utah R. Evid. 702. The advisory committee notes make clear that Rule 702 “assigns to trial judges a ‘gatekeeper’ responsibility to screen out unreliable expert testimony.” Utah R. Evid. 702 advisory committee’s note, ¶ 3. When applying Rule 702, Utah courts should approach expert testimony with “rational skepticism.” *Id.*

A. Mr. Nordquist Was Not Qualified To Offer Expert Opinion On the Standard Practices of Structural Engineers, Contractors, or Excavators.

In challenging the district court’s decision, Ross argues that Mr. Nordquist is qualified to offer testimony on the standard practices of structural engineers, such as Epic, because he too is a licensed engineer. App.Brief at 19-20. Putting aside, for the moment, the fact that Mr. Nordquist testified that he did not have an opinion as to the appropriate standard of care, Utah law is clear that an expert from one professional specialty is not normally qualified to testify as to the standards of

summary judgment decisions predicated on the exclusion of a party’s expert is to review the admissibility of the expert testimony and then, after determining whether or not the exclusion was an abuse of discretion, the summary judgment decision. *See, e.g. Brussow v. Webster*, 2011 UT App 193, 258 P.3d 615 (reviewing exclusion of plaintiff’s expert prior to considering summary judgment ruling); *Pete v. Youngblood*, 2006 UT App 303, 141 P.3d 629 (same); *Dikeo v. Osburn*, 881 P.2d 943 (Utah Ct. App. 1994) (same).

care required of a distinct, although related specialty. *Burton v. Youngblood*, 711 P.2d 245, 247-249 (Utah 1985) (affirming exclusion of plaintiff's expert, an ocular plastic surgeon, in malpractice case against general plastic surgeon when the expert failed to establish that the practices observed a common standard of care).

Utah courts have allowed an expert to offer standard of care testimony outside of his or her professional specialty only when a foundation is laid establishing that (1) the standards of care observed by the two specialties are the same; or (2) the expert is independently knowledgeable about the standard of care of the other specialty. *See Boice v. Marble*, 1999 UT 71, ¶ 14, 982 P.2d 565 (overturning the exclusion of physiatrist's testimony on the standard of care required of neurosurgeons where the expert laid a foundation establishing that the standard of care for both medical specialties was the same); *Dikeo*, 881 P.2d at 946-48 (affirming exclusion of the testimony from an emergency room doctor who failed to show that the defendant cardiologist, that treated plaintiff's emergency heart condition, would observe the same standard of care).

In this case, while both Mr. Nordquist and Adam Huff are licensed engineers, it is undisputed that Mr. Nordquist specializes in geotechnical engineering and not design or structural engineering. *See supra* at 8-9. According to Mr. Nordquist, geotechnical engineers "are typically involved in evaluating the subsurface soil conditions," including making "determinations of compressibility,

how strong it is, what impact water would have on it,” in order to evaluate “what impact there would be of new construction,” but that geotechnical engineers do not actually design buildings. R.189-90 at 20:18-21:10 (J.Nordquist Dep.).

Mr. Nordquist acknowledged that in order for him to have developed an opinion on the standard of care observed by structural engineers, such as Epic, he would have needed to conduct an investigation including the “review of reports, records or opinions of other professionals performing the same or similar service at the time in question.” *See supra* at 10-12. It is clear, then, that Mr. Nordquist recognized that his experience as a geotechnical engineer did not qualify him to offer an opinion on the standard of care observed by structural engineers. As a geotechnical engineer, Mr. Nordquist does not possess the “knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education” that would enable him to offer expert testimony on the standard of care applicable to structural engineers nor did he establish that the standard of care for geotechnical engineers is the same.

Similarly, Mr. Nordquist was unqualified to offer an expert opinion as to whether a contractor or machine operator would be able to determine if a building site contained fill material. Mr. Nordquist explained that his “opinion that a machine operator or contractor wouldn’t necessarily be able to determine if the soil they were digging into was native or fill [was] based on [his] personal experience in determining if a soil mass is fill or naturally deposited.” R. 199 (J.Nordquist

Supp. Report at 3). Mr. Nordquist's experience in determining the composition of soil as a geotechnical engineer, however, has no corollary whatsoever to the experience of a general contractor or excavator. Mr. Nordquist testified that the sum total of his personal experience with excavation is comprised of two small projects that he undertook on his own property. *See supra* at 10. Mr. Nordquist's expert opinion on this topic was pure speculation and contrary to Utah law, as recognized by the district court, which "imputes to builders and contractors a high degree of specialized knowledge and expertise with regard to residential construction . . . In particular, builder-contractors are expected to be familiar with conditions in the subsurface of the ground." *See Smith v. Frandsen*, 2004 UT 55, ¶¶ 18-19, 94 P.3d 919.⁴

In sum, Ross failed to make the threshold showing of competency required by Utah Rule of Evidence 702 in order to present Mr. Nordquist to the jury as an expert witness on the specialized practices of structural engineers, contractors, or excavators.

⁴ Ross misconstrues the decision below in arguing that the district court relied upon *Smith v. Frandsen*, 2004 UT 55, to "absolve" Epic of liability. App.Brief at 18. Epic's position, that was adopted by the district court, is that Mr. Nordquist's opinion that "when digging the footings [for a building] a machine operator or contractor wouldn't necessarily be able to determine if the soil they were digging into was native or fill" is contrary to Utah law and, therefore, inadmissible. R.132; R.660 (Final Order).

B. Mr. Nordquist Never Articulated the Relevant Standard of Care Governing Epic's Performance.

Mr. Nordquist testified unequivocally that he did not have an opinion as to the appropriate standard of care in this case. *See supra* at 10-12. As a result, Mr. Nordquist's opinion that the contours of the building site evidence the presence of fill that should have "concerned" an engineer (a proposition that Epic's expert disputes) is meaningless. First, as established above, Mr. Nordquist lacks the training or skill necessary for him to offer an opinion as to what conclusions a structural engineer might draw from the slope of a building site. Second, without articulating the applicable standard of care, Mr. Nordquist could not (and did not) opine as to what a structural engineer of ordinary care and skill would have done in response to the alleged "concerns."

Ross argues on appeal that Mr. Nordquist's opinion that "[i]t is not unreasonable for Jason Ross to believe that the term 'structural engineering' on the [Contract] included being able to rely on the engineer for recommendations to be done to assure a stable building that would not settle" bears on the standard of care issue. App.Brief at 16. As Epic pointed out at the pre-trial hearing, testimony from Mr. Nordquist as to what was reasonable for Ross to believe lacks any foundation and simply is not expert opinion. R.719. The district court did not abuse its discretion in excluding Mr. Nordquist's unsupported opinions.

C. The Trial Court Properly Concluded that Mr. Nordquist's Remaining Expert Opinions Were Superfluous.

Lastly, Mr. Nordquist's remaining opinions went to matters that were not in dispute: That the settling is due to the presence of unconsolidated fill material under the building, that the extent of the settling is beyond what would normally be expected, and that using helical piers to stabilize the building is an appropriate remedy. *See supra* at 9, 17. The district court properly exercised its broad discretion in excluding Mr. Nordquist's testimony on these uncontroverted issues as needlessly cumulative.

II. The District Court's Dismissal of Ross's Breach of Contract Claim Was Correct and Should be Affirmed.

Epic, as the party moving for summary judgment on an issue that Ross had the burden to prove at trial, *i.e.* that Epic breached the parties' contract by failing to properly engineer the plans, satisfied its burden on summary judgment by showing, by reference to the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, that there is no genuine issue of material fact. *Warenski v. Advanced RV Supply*, 2011 UT App 197, ¶ 5, 257 P.3d 1096 (citing Utah R. Civ. P. 56(c)). Upon such a showing, the burden shifted to Ross, the nonmoving party, who "may not rest upon the mere allegations or denials of the pleadings," but "must set forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial." *Id.* (quoting Utah R. Civ. P. 56(e)).

A. Ross Could Not Prevail On His Breach of Contract Claim Without Expert Testimony Establishing the Relevant Standard of Care.

On appeal Ross asserts that it was not necessary for him to establish a standard of care to prevail on his breach of contract claim and that the dispute over the exact terms of the Contract precluded summary judgment. App.Brief at 16-17. While Ross's position is somewhat difficult to discern, he appears to argue that the jury must first determine whether Page 2, containing the limitation of liability and standard of care provisions, is a part of the Contract. Only then, Ross argues, would expert testimony become potentially relevant. *Id.*

The flaw in Ross's reasoning is that the fundamental basis for his breach of contract claim was the allegation that Epic "failed to properly engineer the plans." Because the average juror has little understanding of what is required to properly engineer building plans, expert testimony is required to establish the relevant standard of care and then evaluate Epic's performance against that standard. *See Wycalis v. Guardian Title of Utah*, 780 P.2d 821, n.8 (Utah Ct. App. 1989) ("where the average person has little understanding of the duties owed by particular trades or professions, expert testimony must ordinarily be presented to establish the standard of care"). As noted by this Court in *Wycalis*, "expert testimony has been required to establish the standard of care for medical doctors, *Chadwick v. Nielsen*, 763 P.2d 817, 821 (Utah Ct. App. 1988); architects, *Nauman v. Harold K. Beecher*

& Assocs., 467 P.2d 610, 615 (Utah 1970); and engineers, *National Housing Indus., Inc. v. E.L. Jones Dev. Co.*, 576 P.2d 1374, 1377 (Ariz. Ct. App. 1978).” *Id.*

The fact that Ross’s claim is premised on contract law and not tort does not change the analysis. Once Mr. Nordquist’s testimony was excluded, the testimony of Epic’s expert, Mr. Gilson, that Epic met the standard of care observed by structural engineers on similar projects in using the minimum soil bearing capacity set forth in the International Building Code in lieu of data obtained from a geotechnical report in engineering Ross’s plans stood un rebutted. R.79. As the district court properly concluded, Ross lacked any admissible evidence to support his allegation that Epic “breached the contract by failing to properly engineer the plans” to present at trial and summary judgment was appropriate.

The Arizona case of *National Housing Indus., Inc. v. E.L. Jones Dev. Co.*, cited favorably by this Court in *Wycalis v. Guardian Title of Utah*, is particularly instructive here. In *National Housing*, an engineering firm was retained to prepare a subdivision plat and associated paving, sewer, water, drainage and grading plans for the development of real property later acquired by the plaintiff. 576 P.2d at 1376. The plaintiff brought suit against the engineering firm, alleging that it had failed to meet the appropriate standard of care by not including a “cut and fill” estimate as part of the subdivision design that would have disclosed that 20,000

cubic yards of fill material would have to be imported before homes could be built on the property in question. *Id.* at 1377.

The defendant engineering firm introduced expert testimony establishing that the standard of care in that locale did not include cut and fill estimates as part of the standard engineering fee for designing a subdivision. *Id.* The plaintiff failed to offer any contradictory expert evidence, and the Arizona Court of Appeals affirmed the grant of summary judgment to the engineering firm, holding that the plaintiff failed, as a matter of law, to raise an issue of fact as to the standard engineering practices with respect to preparing “cut and fill” estimates. *Id.* at 1378.

The same result is required here. Ross failed to rebut the expert testimony offered by Mr. Gilson that in his extensive experience geotechnical studies are typically never ordered for light commercial structures, such as the U.S. Design Building and, in addition, that the gradation of the building site was not necessarily indicative of fill. R.78 (L. Gilson Report at 1). Without admissible expert testimony Ross could not, as a matter of law, raise an issue of fact as to Epic’s performance under the Contract and the district court’s conclusion that the dispute over Page 2 was immaterial is correct.

B. The District Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion in Revising Its Earlier Ruling Denying Epic’s Summary Judgment Motion.

Ross argues that there was no basis for the trial court to reconsider its prior ruling that the dispute over the Contract terms prevented summary judgment. This

Court reviews the issue of the trial court's reconsideration of a prior ruling for an abuse of discretion. *See IHC Health Servs., Inc. v. D & K Mgmt., Inc.*, 2008 UT 73, ¶ 27, 196 P.3d 588 ("reconsideration of an issue before a final judgment is within the sound discretion of the district court").

At the final pre-trial hearing, the district court explained that "You [Ross] relied heavily on your expert to substantiate that there was dispute in fact. Now I've got the expert who is in question here." R.725. The district court asked Ross for clarification as to what duty Epic had under the contract. R.722. When Ross was unable to point to any specific duty (or specific failure), the district court explained that because Epic's expert testimony stood unrebutted summary judgment would be granted. "The reason the Court did not grant summary judgment initially on the first issue was . . . the proffer that the expert[s] would disagree on critical issues. They don't." R.734.

The district court rejected Ross's argument that a breach could be established via his own testimony or that Ross could "reform the contract unilaterally based upon his expectations." R.735. There was no abuse of discretion in the trial court's decision to reconsider his earlier ruling on the standard of care issue.

III. The District Court's Grant Of Epic's Motion in Limine Prior To Receiving a Response from Ross Does Not Warrant Reversal.

The district court issued its ruling on the motion in limine prior to the deadline set forth in Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 7(c) for Ross to submit a written response had expired. The error, however, was harmless and there is no reasonable likelihood that a written opposition to the motion in limine would have affected the final outcome.

In determining whether a procedural error is harmless, this Court asks whether the error is "sufficiently inconsequential so no reasonable likelihood exists that the error affected the outcome of the proceedings." *Jones v. Cyprus Plateau Mining Corp.*, 944 P.2d 357, 360 (Utah 1997). "In order to justify reversal the appellant must show error that was substantial and prejudicial in the sense there is at least a reasonable likelihood that in the absence of the error the result would have been different." *Ortega v. Thomas*, 383 P.2d 406, 408 (Utah 1963).

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